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I. The Appeals Ch amber of the Intemation al Residual Mechanism for Criminal Tribunals

("Appeals Chamber" and "Mechanism", respectively) is seised of three motions filed by Augustin

Ngirabatware on 25 July 20 I3, I 2 September 20 I3,2and 7 May 2 104,3 seeking relief for violati ons

of Rule 73 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the Mechanism ("Rules") and requesting the

admi ssion of additional evidence on appeal pur suant to Rule 142 of the Rules. The Prosecution

responded on 13 August 2013,4 2 October 2013,5 and 6 June 2014.6 Ngirabatw are filed replies on

21 August 20137 and 9 June 2014.x

I. BACKGROUND

2. On 20 December 2012, Tri al Chamber II of the International Criminal Tribunal for

Rwanda ("Trial Chamber" and "ICTR" , respectively) convicted Ngirabatware of instigating and

aiding and abetting gen ocide, committing direct and publi c incitement to commit genocide, and

committing, pursuant to the extended form of joint criminal enterprise, rape as a crime against

humanity. 9 The Trial Chamber sentenced Ngirabatware to 35 years of imprisonment. 10

Ngirabatware advances seven grounds of appeal against his convictions and sentence. I I Under his

second ground of appeal, Ngirabatware alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in rejecting his alibi for

7 April 1994. 12 Ngirabatwarc's appeal against the Trial Judgement is pending.

3. At trial, the ICTR Prosecution alleged that, on 7 and 8 April 1994, Ngirabatwarc was

distributing weapons and exh orting members of the population to kill Tutsis in the Nyamyumba

1 Or. Ngirabatware' s Confidential Motion Pursuan t to Articles 73, 74 and 142 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence,
25 July 2013 (with confi dent ial Ann exes A and B) ("First Motion" ).
2 Or. Ngirabatwares Second Motion Pursuant to Articles 73, 74 and 142 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence ,
2 September 20 13 (with confidential Annex A and public Anne x B) ("Second Motion" ). Annex A was filed separately .
See Annex A to Or. Ngirabatwares Second Motion Pursu ant to Articl es 73, 74 and 142 of the Rules of Procedure and
Evidence: Prosecution Letter of 17 May 2013 to Ngirabatware ' s Lead Coun sel and Confidential Index of Disclosed
Material, 2 September 2013 (confidential). Noting the non-sequent ial numb erin g of some parag raph s in the Second
Motion, the Appeals Chamber will refer 10 the relevant submissions as if the paragraphs had corre ct numbering.
.1 Supplementary Motion for Admission of Add itional Evidence on Appeal, 7 May 20 14 (confi dential with Annex es A.
B, C. 0, E, F and G) ("Third Motion" ).
4 Prosecuti on ' s Response to Ngirabatware ' s Rules 73 , 74 and 142 Motion, 13 August 20 13 ("First Respon se") ,
' Prosecution Resp onse to Ngirabatware's Second Rules 73,74 and 142 Motion, 2 October 2013 ("Scc ond Response" ).
6 Prosecution 's Response to Ngirabatwares Third Rule 142 Motion, 6 June 2014 (confidenti al) ("T hird Respon se" ).
7 Or. Ngirabatwarcs Reply to Prosecution' s Response 10 Dr. Ngirabatwares Confidential Motion Pursuant to
Articles 73, 74 and 142 of the Rule s of Procedure and Evid ence, 21 Augu st 20 13 (confidential) ("Reply to the First
Respon se"). The Appeal s Chamber notes that the Reply to the First Response has been incorrectly numbered in that
numb ered paragraph 25 on page 10 should be numbered paragraph 36. The Appeals Chamber shall refer to the correct
numbering.
s Defence Repl y to Pro secution ' s Response to Ngirabatwares Thi rd Rule 142 Motion, 9 June 2014 (confidential)
("Reply to the T hird Respon se" ).
Y The Prosecutor v. Ngirabatware. Case No. ICTR -<)<)-54-T. Judgement and Sentence, 20 December 2012 ('Trial
Judgement"), paras. 1345, 1370, 1393-1394 . Th e Trial Judgement was issued in writing on 21 February 2013 .
10 Trial Jud gement, para. 1420.
I 1 See Augu stin Ngirabatwarcs Not ice of Appeal, <) April 2013 (" Notice of Appeal"); Or. Ngirabatw are ' s Appeal
Brief, 18 Jun e 2013 (confident ial ) ("Appe al Brief' ); Corri gcndurn to Dr. Ngirabatwares Appe al Brief. 16 July 2013
(confidential). para s. 77-14 6. The amended public redacted version of the Appeal Brief was filed on I August 20 13.
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Co mmune in Gisen yi Prefecture. I:> Ngirabatware presented an alibi that he was at the President ial

Guard Camp in Kigali from the evening 01" 6 Apri l 1994 unti l he relocated to the French Embassy

on the morni ng of 8 April 1994. 14 In support of his alibi, Ngi rabatware relied on hi s ow n testi mony

and that of Defen ce Witnesses Wini fred Mu sabeyezu -Kabu ga, Leoncie Bongwa, DWAN- 122,

DWAN- 7, DW AN- I 50 , DWAN-SS, Jean Dam ascene Kayitana, Jean Baptiste Byilingiro, Jerorne­

C lement Bicamumpak a, and Joseph Habinshuti and referred to the evi dence of Prosecution

Witnesses Joseph Ngarambe , OAK, and ANAW . 15 Ngirabatware also reli ed on a diplom atic

te legram sent from the French Embassy, which included his nam e on a list of perso ns who had

sought refuge at the embassy on 8 Ap ril 1994 .16

4 . Th e Tria l Chamber co nsidered that the wi tnesses who testified in support of Ngirabatw are 's

alibi for 7 April 1994 were individually and collec tive ly not cred ible . i ' It also noted that, since

Ngi rabatware filed his noti ce of alibi after all the Prosecut ion witn esses had testified, there was "a

high probab ilit y that the alibi was tailored and fabricated to lit the Prosecuti on case". IX

Consequently , the Trial Chamber did not End Ngirabatwa res alibi for 7 Apri l 1994 to be

reasonably possibly tru e . I ') However , re lying prin cip al ly on the French Embassy telegram of

8 Apri l 1994, the Trial Chamber found Ngirabatwarc' s alibi to be reason ably possibly true in that

he ma y have been at the Frenc h Embassy aro und early afternoon on RApri l 1994, possibly arriving

there before 11.5 8 a.m.2U

5. In his First Mot ion , Ng irabatwarc requests that the Appea ls Ch amber admit as additio na l

evi dence on appeal a series of transcripts of int erview s conducted by ICTR investigators with

Prospe r Mugiraneza dated 8, 13, and 19 Ap ril 1999 ("M ugiraneza's 1999 Statement")" and/or call

Mu giraneza as a witness on appea l.22 In the alte rnative, Ngirabatware reques ts that the Appea ls

Ch amber take not ice that in Apri l 1999, Mug ira neza inform ed the Prosecution that Ngirabatwa re

was present at the Presid ential Gu ard Camp in Kigali on 6 and 7 April 1994 .23

6. In his Second Moti on, Ngirabat ware reques ts that the Appea ls Chamber admit as addi tional

ev idence on appeal the testimo ny of Pauline Nyiram asuh uko given in the Karemera et al. case in

12 Notice of Appea l. paras. 15-23; Appeal Brief, paras. 77- 146.
1.1 Tri al Judgement, paras. 49 1, 650.
14 T rial Judgemen t, para. 492
15 T rial Judgement, para. 492 .
16 Tri al Judgement , para. 687.
17 Tri al Judgement. para. 685 . See T rial Judgemen t, paras. 663-684.
1~ Tri al Judge ment, para. 685 . See also Trial Judgement, para . 696.
19 Tria l Judgement, para . 696.
211 Trial Judgem ent , paras. 653. 685, 695-696 .
2 1 Firs t Motion, Annex B.
22 First Motion, para. 30(ii ).
2.1 First Motion, para s. 29 , 30(i ii).

2
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May 2010 (" Nyiramasuhuko 's 2010 Te stim ony" ) and find that the Prosecution has breached its

discl osure obligations in relati on to this material. 24 In the altern ative. Ngirabatware reque sts that the

Appeals Chamber take judicial notice of certain aspect s of Nyiramasuhuko ' s 2010 Testim ony.

including that she saw Ngirabatware at the Presidential Guard Camp at some point between the

night of 6 April and the morning of 8 April 1994. 25

7. In his Third Motion. Ngirabatware requests that the Appeals Chamber admit as additional

evidence on appeal defence coun sel' s interview with Mugiraneza dated 7 May 2014

("Mugiraneza' s 2014 Statem ent") and/or ca ll Mu giraneza as a witness on appeal.26 Ngirabatware

claims that Mugi ranc za ' s 2014 Statem ent co nfirms that he was at the Presidential Guard Camp on

the evening of 6 April and during the day on 7 April 1994.27

8. The Prosecuti on responds that all three motions should be dismi ssed. 2x However. should

Mugiranez a ' s 2014 Statement be admitted into evidence. the Prosecuti on reque sts permi ssion to

cross-examine Mugirane za and to present additional evid ence in rebuttal. 29

9. On 26 June 2014. the Pre-Appeal Judge. after having consulted the bench in this case.

deferred deciding on the three motions until after the appeal hearin g had taken place." The appeal

hearing was held on 30 Jun e 2014.

11. PRELIMINARY ISSUES

A.Confidcntialitv

10. The Appeals Chamber notes that the First and Third Motion were filed confidentially.

Ngirabatware explains that he filed the First Motion confidentially "o ut of abundance of cauti on

because [he] does not know to what extent Mr. Mugiraneza need s to be protected as a potential

witnc ss'v" In light of the nature of the tendered material . the Appeals Chamber understand s the

same rationale to apply to the confidenti al status of the Third Motion. The Appeals Chamber

recalls . however. that under Rule s 92 and 131 of the Rules all proceed ings before the Appe als

24 Second Motion, paras. I. 26(ii)-(i ii).
25 Second Motion. para s. 16. 26(iv ). See also Seco nd Motion , Annex B, RP. 2520-2519.
26 Third Motion. paras. 2. 33(ii) . The Appea ls Chamber notes that. accord ing to the interview transcript . the interview
was conducted on 7 May 2014 (see Th ird Motion. Annex G). Having considered the totality of Ngirabatwar e ' s
submissions, the Appeals Ch amh er cons iders that the reference to 7 May 20 14 is a typograp hical error and that the
interview was. in fact. conducted on 5 May 20 14 (see Third Motion, para. 2; see also Third Motion. Annex F).
27 Third Motion, paras. SI- 16.
2X First Response. para . 40 ; Second Response. para . 12; T hird Response. para. 25.
29 Third Response. para. 26.
,0Decision Defe rring Co nside ration of Ngirabatwarc ' s Motions for the Admiss ion of Addi tional Evidence on Appea l.
26 lune 20 14. p. I.
" Reply to the First Res ponse. n. I.

3
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Chamber, including the Appeal s Chamber's orde rs and deci sions, shall be publi c unless there are

excepti onal reasons for keeping them confidentia l. Ngirabatware has not provided any expl anati on

as to why Mugiraneza might require protective measures, and therefore the Appeal s Chamber is not

satisfied that there are excepti onal reasons for keeping the present deci sion confidentia l.

Accordingly, the Appeal s Chamber renders the present decision publi cly.

B. Timeliness

11. Pursuant to Rule 142(A) of the Rul es, a party may submit a request to present additional

evidence before the Appeals Chamber no later than 30 days from the dat e of filing of the brief in

reply unle ss good ca use or, after the appeal hearing, cogent reasons are shown for the delay.

12. Ngirabatware filed his brief in reply on 13 August 2013.32 Consequently, the 30 day time

limit prescribed under Rule 142 of the Rules for filing a motion for admi ssion of additional

evidence on appea l expired on 12 September 2013. The Appeals Chamber notes that the First and

Second Motion were filed within the time limit pre scribed under the Rule . Howe ver, Ngirabatware

filed the Third Motion on 7 May 2014, which is nearly eight month s after the rele vant time limit

had expired. In the se circumstances, Ngirabatw are must show that good cause exists for the delayed

filing of the Th ird Motion .33 Th e Appeals Chamber recall s that the good cause requirement obliges

the movin g party to demonstrate that it was not able to comply with the relev ant time limit , and that

it submitted the moti on in question as soo n as possible after it became aware of the exi stence of the

evidence sought to be admitted ."

13. Ngirabatware submits that , following the Prosecution' s disclo sure of Mugiraneza' s 1999

Statement, he took immediate steps to co ntact Mugiraneza with the view of obtaining a statementr"

Ngirabatware contends that these circumstances ju stify the late filing of the Third Motion .36 The

Prosecution responds that Ngirabatware fail s to show good cause for the late filing of the Third

Motion, gi ven that at trial he was aware that Mugiraneza could pro vide evidence in support of his

alibi. 3?

.'2 Dr. Ngirabatwares Bri ef in Repl y to Prosec ution Res pondent ' s Brief (P ursuant to Rule 140 of the Rul es of Procedure
and Evidenc e), 13 Au gust 20 13.
JJ See Rul e 142(A) of the Rul es.
J·I See, e.g., Prosecutor v, Yujadin Popovic et al., Case No . IT-05-88- A. Puhlic Redacted Version of 2 May 20 14
Decision on Vujadin Popovic' s Third and Fifth Motion s for Admi ssion of Additional Evidence on Appeal Pur suant to
Rule 115. 23 Ma y 20 14 ("Po{Jovi( Appeal Decision of 23 May 20 14") . para. 19; Francois Karera v. The Prosecutor ,
Case No. lCTR-01-74-A, Deci sion on the Appellant's Request to Admi t Additional Evidence Pur suant to Rule l l S of
the Rules of Procedure and Evidence , 29 Oc tober 2008 , para. 10.
35 Third Motion , paras. 6-7 .
'6 Third Motion, para . 8.
n Third Response. para . 7 .

4
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14. The Appeals Chamber notes that, prior to the expiration of the time limit prescribed under

Rule 142 of the Rules, counsel for Ngirabatware made several efforts to meet with Mugiraneza."

He was ultimately able to mee t with Mugiraneza on 5 May 20 1439 and ti led the Third Mo tion,

containing Mugiraneza's 20 14 Statement. immediately thereafter. The Appeals Chamber further

notes Ngirabatware ' s submiss ion that the evide nce proffered in the Third Motion "supplemen ts.

specifies and provides de tailed clarification" of the evidence proposed in the First Motion, which

was filed within the time limit.4o In these circums tances , the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that good

cause has bee n shown for the delayed filing of the Third Motion . Accordingly, the Appeals

Chamb er wi ll proceed to examine the merits of all three motions.

Ill. DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS

A. Applicable Law

IS. Under Rul e 73(A) of the Rules, the Prosecution has a positive and co ntinuous obligation to,

"as soon as pract icab le, disclose to the Defence any material that in [its] actual knowledge [. .. ] may

suggest the innocence or miti gate the guilt of the accused or affec t the credibility of Prosecut ion

evidence".41The determination as to which material is subject to disclosure under this provision is a

fac t-based enquiry made by the Prosecut ion .Y Therefore. the Appeals Chambe r will not intervene in

the exercise of the Prosecuti on ' s discret ion unl ess it is shown that the Prosecut ion abused it and.

where there is no evide nce to the contrary. will ass ume that the Prosecution is acting in good faith.43

The Appea ls Chamber recalls that the Prosecu tion' s obliga tion to disclose exc ulpatory material IS

essential to a fair trial . and notes that this obligation has always been interpreted broadly.t"

.IXSee Thi rd Mot ion. An nex A.

.19 Third Motion. para . 2. See a/so Third Motion. Annex F.
40 Third Motion. para . 2.
41 See a/so Rule 68(A) of the ICTR Rules.
4 2 See. e.g., Deci sion on Augustin Ngirabatwarcs Motion for Sanctions for the Prosecut ion and for an Order for
Disclosure. 15 April 20 14 ("Appeal Deci sion of 15 April 20 14"). para. 12. referring to Justin Mu genzi and Prosper
Mug iraneza v. The Prosecutor. Case No. ICTR -99-50-A. Decision on Motions for Relief for Rule 68 Violations.
24 Septembe r 20 12 ("Muge nzJ Appe al Dec ision of 24 Sep tembe r 20 12"). para . 7. Eplirem Setako v. The Prosecu tor.
Case No. ICTR- 04-81- A. Decis ion on Ephrern Se takos Mo tion to Amend his Notice of Appeal and Motion to Admit
Evide nce. filed confide ntially on 23 March 20 11. public reda cted version filed on 9 November 20 I I ("Se tako Appea l
Decision of 9 Nove mber 20 I l" ), para . 13, Jean de Dieu Kumuhanda 1'. The Prosecutor. Case No. ICTR-99-54A-R68.
Decision on Motion for Disclosure. 4 March 2010 C'Kamulianda Appea l Decisio n of 4 March 2010") , para. 14,
Prosecutor v, Dario Kordk ' and Ma rio Cerket. . Case No. IT-95- 1412-A. Judgment. 17 December 2004, para . 183.
4.1See, e.g.• Appeal Decision of IS April 20 14. para. 12, referring to Mug enri Appeal Decision of 24 Septembe r 20 12.
para. 7. Kamulianda Appeal Deci sion of 4 March 2010 . para . 14; Ferdinand Naliimana et al. v, The Prosecutor.
Case No. ICTR-99-52-A, Decision on Appe llant Jean-Bosco Barayagwizas Motions for Leave to Present Additional
Evidence Pursuant to Rule 115 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 8 December 2006 (" Baray ag wiza Appea l
Decis ion of g Dece mber 2000 ") para . 34.
44 See. e.g.. Appeal Deci sion of 15 Apr il 2014. para . 12. referring to Mug enri Appeal Decision of 24 Sep tember 20 12.
para. 7; Setako Appeal Deci sion of 9 November 20 11. para. 12; Cal lix te Kalimanzira v. The Pro secutor, Case No.
ICTR-05-88-A. Judgement, 20 October 2010 (" Kalimallzira Appeal Judgement") , para . 18.

5
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16. In orde r to es tablish that the Prosecuti on is in breac h of its disclosure ob liga tio ns, the

applicant must: (i) ide ntify specifically the material soug ht; (ii) present a prima [acie showing of its

probable exculpatory nat ure ; and (i ii) prove that the material req uested is in the custody or under

the contro l of the Prosecut ion ." If the Appeals Chamber de term ines that the Prosecution is in

breach of its discl osure obligations, the Appeals Cham ber must examine whether the defence has

been prejudiced by that fai lure before co nsidering whe ther a remedy is appropriate.l"

B. Discussion

17. The Prosecution di sclosed Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement and Nyiram asu hukos 2010

Testimony through corres po ndence dated 10 May and 17 May 2013 , respectively.Y According to

Mugiraneza' s 1999 St atement, Mugiraneza and Ngirabatware went to the Presidential Guard Camp

on the night of 6 Apri l 1994, arrivi ng there sometime around midni ght. 4X Mugiraneza saw

Ngirabatware again on 8 April 1994 at the French Embassy." Nyiram asuhuko tes tified that she

went to the Pre sid ential Gu ard Camp around midnight on 6 April 1994 , where she rem ained until

the morning of 8 Apri l 1994. 50 Nyiramasu huko further test ified that Ng irabatware was at the

Presidential Guard Camp wh en she was there."

18. Ngirabatware subm its that the Prosecu tion breached its disclosure obligations by failing to

timel y disclose Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statem ent and Nyiramas uhuko's 20 10 Testimon y.Y He claims

that the disclosed mat erial is exculpatory as it shows that the Trial Chamber's rejection of his ali bi

was erro neo us .53 Ngirabatware argues that he suffered prejudice as the Prosecuti on' s failure to

timely disclose Mu giraneza ' s 1999 Statement and Nyiramasuh ukos 2010 Te stimony deprived him

of the opp ortunity to pre sent the evidence at trial and to generate additional evidence from the same

sources.i" In re lati on to Mu giraneza' s 1999 Statement , Ngirabatware fur ther submits that the late

di sclosure prevented him from making an informed decision as to whether Mu giraneza should be

called as a witness at trial and from usin g the sta teme nt during the examinat ion and cross-

45 See , e.g .. Appeal Decision of 15 April 2014. para. 13. referring to Just ill Mugenz] and Prosper Mugiruneza 1'. The
Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR -99-50-A, Judgemen t. 4 Fehruary 2013 ("Mu}:e/ll.i and Mugiranera Appeal Judgement").
para. 39; Tlteoneste Bagosora et al. 1'. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-4 1-A, Decision on Aloys Ntabakuzes
Motions for Disclosure, 18 January 201 1, para. 7: Kamulianda Appeal Decision of 4 March 20 IO. para. 14.
46See, e.g., Appeal Dec ision of 15 April 20 14, para. 13, referring to Muxellzi and Mug irane za Appea l Judgement,
rara. 39; Setako Appeal Decision 01'9 November 201 1. para . 14; Kali manrira Appe al Judgement, para. 18.

7 See First Motion, Annex A: Second Motion. Annex A.
4X First Motion, Annex B, RP. 1549.
4V See First Motion. Annex B. RP . 1612-1611.
50 Second Motion, Annex B, RP, 2550, 2520.
51 Second Motion, Annex B, RP. 2520 -25 19.
52 First Motion. para . 3; Second Motion, paras. 3, 5. 8-9: Rep ly 10 the First Response. paras. 7-9. 11 .
5J First Motion. para. 3; Second Motion, paras. 3-4.
54 First Motion. paras . 4, 10, 15. 28; Seco nd Motion. paras. 5. 14. 24.

6
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examination of other witnesses,55 As a remedy for the prejudice suffered, Ngiraba twarc submits that

the Ap pea ls Ch amber may admi t Mu girane za' s 1999 Statement as additional evidence on appeal

with or witho ut ca ll ing Mu giranc za as a witncss5(10r, as sanction for the Prosecuti on ' s purp orted

violation of its disclosure obliga tions, take noti ce that Mugiraneza in formed the Prosecution in

April 1999, before Ngiraba tware was indicted by the ICTR Prosecut ion, that Ngiraba tware was at

the Presidential Guard Camp in Kigali on 6 and 7 April 1994.57 In relation to Nyiram asuhuko 's

2010 Testimony , Ngirabatware requ ests the Appeals Ch amb er to find that the Prosecuti on breached

its disclosure obligations , 51< admit Nyirarnasuhuko's testim ony as a remedy for the prejudice

suffered" or, as sanction for the Prosecuti on ' s purported violation of its discl osure obliga tions, take

judicial notice of certain aspects of the proffered evidence.6o

19. The Prosecuti on respond s that Ngiraba twa re suffered no prejudice from the late disclosure

of Mu girane za ' s 1999 Statement and Ny irarnasuhuko's 2010 Testim ony and therefore no remedy is

warranted .?' Th e Prosecution further submits that it did not breach its disclosure obligations as

Mu giraneza and Nyiramasuhuko testified in open sess ion and therefore the substance o f

Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement and Nyiramasuhuko's testim ony were reasonabl y accessible to

Ng iraba tware throu gh the exercise of due diligence .l"

20. The Appeals Chamber note s that Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement and Nyirarnasuhuk os 20 I0

Te stimony ma y provide direct or circumstant ial support for the alibi evidence presented by

Ngirabatware in relation to his whereabouts from 6 to 8 April 1994.6
.
1 Con sequentl y, the Appeals

Ch amber is satisfied that the proffered material is prima facie exculpatory.

21 . The Appeals Ch amber observes that Nyirama suhuko testified in open sess ion and that,

therefore, the public transcripts were accessible to Ngirabatware. No netheless, the Appeals

Chamber recalls that the Prosecution's disclosure obliga tions generally encompass open sess ion

testimonies of witnesse s in other proceedings condu cted before the ICTR. M Considering that

" First Motion, paras. 10, 28. See also First Motion. paras. 5-9: Reply to the First Response, paras. 12-14 .
,6 First Motion, paras . 4. 17, 25,28, 30(ii).
, 7 First Motion, paras. 29, 30(iii). Having considered the totality of the Ngirabatwares submissions. the Appeals
Ch amber understands that he seeks a finding by the Appea ls Chamber that the Prosecution breached its disclosure
obligations with respect to Mugirane za ' s 1999 Statement,
5K Second Motion, para . 26(ii).
5Y Second Motion, paras. 6, 25, 26(i ii).
60 Second Mot ion, paras. 6. 26 (iv). See also Second Motion. para. 16.
61 Respon se to First Motion. paras. 6. 9, 19. Response to Second Motion, para. 5. See also Response to First Motion.
raras. I I-18.
2 Response to First Motion. paras. 9- 10; Response to Second Motion. paras. 3-4 .

63 First Motion, Annex H. RP. 1617. 1614-1611 , 1593, 1549; Second Motion, Annex H, RP. 2550,2520-25 18,2513 .
M See, e.g., Appeal Decision of 15 April 20 14, para. 22, ref erring to Eliezer Niyitegeka 1'. The Prosecutor, Case No.
ICTR -96-14-R . Decision on Third Request for Review, 23 January 2008, para. 27; Prosecutor v. Durio Kordic,
Case No. IT-95-14/2-A. Decision on Appellant's Notice and Supplemental Notice of Prosec ution's Non-Comp liance
with its Disclosure Obligation under Rule 68 of the Rules. 11 February 2004. para. 20; Prosecutor v, Radosluv Brdani n,

7
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Ngirabatware was arres ted in Germ any on 17 September 2007 and transferred to the ICTR 's

custody on 8 Oct ober 2008,(,5 the Prosecution ' s disclosure in May 2013 of Mugiraneza' s 1999

Statement and Nyiramasuhukos 2010 Te stimony was significantly delayed. n(} The Appeals

Chamber accordingly find s that the Prosecution has failed to comply with its obligation under

Rule 73 of the Rules to disclose this material as soon as practicable.l" Nonetheless, for the reasons

set out below, the Appeals Chamber find s, Judge Moloto dissenting, that the prejudice suffered by

Ngirabatware as a re sult of the Prosecuti on ' s disclosure violation to be min imal.

22. In rejecting Ngirabatwares alibi , the Trial Chamber expli citl y considered the evidence of

Ngirabatware and Witnesses Musabeyezu-Kabuga, Byilingiro, Bongwa, and Bicamumpaka that

Ngirabatware was at the Presidential Guard Camp in the late hours of 6 April 1994 and durin g the

course of 7 April 1994 and that, on 8 April 1994, he mov ed together with his famil y to the French

Emb assy. M! The Trial Ch amber also relied on the French Embassy telegram in findin g that

Ngi rabatware may have been at the French Embassy around early afternoon on 8 April 1994,

possibly arri vin g there before 11 .58 a.m. n') The Appeals Chamb er , therefore , considers

Mugiraneza's 1999 Statement, indicating that he arrived with Ngirabatware at the Presidenti al

Guard Camp around midnight on 6 April 1994, left Ngirabatware at the camp on 7 April 1994,70

and saw Ngirabatware again on 8 April 1994,71and Nyiramasuhuko' s 2010 Testimony, indicating

that Ngirabatware was pre sent at the Presidential Guard Camp from 6 until 8 April 1994,72 are

cumulative of other ev idence on the record.

23. The Appeals Chamber also finds, Judge Moloto dissenting, no merit in Ngirabatwares

arguments that the late disclosure deprived him of the opportunity to take an informed decision as

to whether Mugiraneza should be called as a witnes s and to obtain further evidence from

Mugiraneza and Nyiramasuhuko. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber note s that Ngirabatware was

fully aware that Mu giraneza and Nyiramasuhuko might provide evidence in support of his alibi. In

particular. he testified that Mugiraneza and Nyiramasuhuko were also present at the Presidenti al

Guard Camp. v' and , more import antl y, listed Mugiraneza and Nyiramasuhuko as potenti al alibi

Case No. IT-99 -36 -A. Deci sion on Appellant' s Motion for Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 68 and Motion for an Order to
the Registrar to Disclose Certain Materials. 7 Decemb er 2004 , p. 4 .
6.' Tr ial Judgement , para . I I.
66 See First Motion, Annex A: Second Motion. Annex A (co nfidential).
67 Thi s also amounted to a vio lat ion of Rule 68 of the ICTR Rules.
oXTrial Judgement . paras. 664-675 , 686-694.
69 Trial Judgement. paras. 653,685, 695-696.
70 First Motion. Annex 13 , RP. 1617- 1616. 1613- 1611. 1549.
71 Firs! Motion, Annex B. RP. 1611.
72 Seco nd Motion, Annex B. RP. 2520-25 18.
7.1See Tri al Judgement . para s. 500-50 1; Ngirab atware , T. 25 November 2010 pp. 17-20 (stating that he and his famil y
left for the Presidential Guard Camp with Mugiran eza. his "close st neighbour". and his fam ily); T . 25 November 20 I0
pp. 26 (stating that on the eve ning of 7 April 1994 there were many people who left the Preside ntia l Guard Camp and

8
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witnesses prior to the co mmencement of his defence case.74 Moreover, the Appea ls Chamber

observes that the coun sel of Ngirabatware indic ated that it "managed to co ntact people who were on

[thi s] list of [potential alibi witnesses]", and that the Defence met with Ngirabatware "to discuss

with him the alibi issue". 75 The Appeals Chamber also observes that, in a subsequent Iiling ,

Ngirabatware no longer included Nyiramasuhuko or Mugiraneza as potential alibi witne sses? From

these representations, it appears that Ngirabatware was aware of the possible evidence that

Mugiraneza and Nyiramasuhuko might provide in support of his alibi and made an informed

deci sion not to call them at trial. Even if this were not the case, Ngirabatware could have requested ,

if necessary, the Trial Chamber' s assistance to interview Mugiraneza and Nyiramasuhuko at trial.

Accordingly, the Prosecution' s failure to timely disclose Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement and

Nyiramasuhuko's 2010 Testimony were not decisive for Ngirabatware' s ability to obtain further

evidence from these sources in support of his alibi. The App eals Chamber, Judge Moloto

dissenting, therefore does not con sider that the prejudice suffered as a result of the Prosecuti on' s

disclosure failure warrants the relief sought by Ngirabatware . While the App eals Chamber stron gly

reminds the Prosecution of the importance of its disclosure obligations, the Appe als Chamber,

Judge Moloto dis senting, find s that no further remedy is warranted in this instance.

IV. REQUEST FOR ADMISSION OF ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE ON

APPEAL

A. Applicable Law

24. For additional evidence to be admi ssible under Rule 142 of the Rules , the appli cant must

first dem onstrate that the additional evidence tendered on appeal was not available to him at trial in

any form , or discoverable through the exercise of due diligence. " The applicant ' s duty to act with

due diligence includes making appropri ate use of all mechanisms of protection and compul sion

avai lable under the ICTR Statute and the ICTR Rules of Procedure and Evidence to bring evidence

those included Mug iraneza), :13 (stating that Mugirancza left with his wife on 7 April 1994 ); T . 3 February 20 11 p.4
(stating that Mugiran eza left on 7 April IYY4); :13 (stating that once he arrived at the French Embassy he "first
recognised" those who had been with him at the Presidential Guard Camp. "in particular Mugiraneza" ):
T. 3 February 2011 p. 4 (stating that Nyirarnasuhuk o staye d at the President ial Guard Ca mp from 7 to 8 April 1994).
74 See The Prosecutor v. Augustin Ngirabatware, Casc No. ICfR-99-54-T, Additional Alibi Notice. 22 March 20 10
(strictly confidential) ("Ngirabatwarc's Additional Alibi Notice"), para. 3, RP. 5716 -5714 . See also Trial Judgement,

ga~;el ~~oseclltIJr 1'. Augustin Ngirabatware, Case No, ICTR-99-54-T, Second Additional Notice of Alibi, 4 May 2010
(strictly confid ential) ("Ngirabatwarc 's Second Additional Alibi Notice" ), paras. 5-6. See Ngirab atware' s Additional
Alibi Notice. RP. 571 6-5714.
70 Ngirab atwares Second Additional Alibi Notice. para. 6.
77 See, e.g., Popovic Appe al Decision of 23 May 20 14. para. 7; lldeplionse Nizeyimana. v. The Prosecutor, Case No.
ICTR-00-55C -A, Decision on Appellant' s Confidential Mot ion for Fresh Evidence and Corollary Relief, 23 April 2014
("Nizey i /lw fja Appeal Decision of 23 Apri l 20 14") , para . 5.
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on beh alf of an acc used before the trial chamber." Th e applica nt is therefore expected to apprise the

trial chamber of all the difficulties he encounters in obtaining the evidence in ques tion."

25. Th e applicant mu st then show that the evidence is both relevant to a materia l issue and

credible.Ko Evidence is rele vant if it relates to findings materi al to the conv iction or sentence , in the

sense that those findings were cru cial or instrumental to the convictio n or sentence. KI Evidence is

credible if it appears to be reasonabl y capahle of be lief or reliance.
K2

26. Th e applica nt must further dem onstrate that the ev ide nce could have had an imp act on the

verdict, in other words, the ev idence mu st be such that, if co nsidered in the co ntex t of the evidence

presented at trial , it co uld show tha t the verd ict was unsafe.I' Th is will be the case if the Appea ls

Chamber ascertain s that there is a reali st ic possibility that the trial chamber 's verdic t might have

been different had the new evid ence been ad mitted .
K4

27. If the ev ide nce was ava ilahle at trial or co uld have been obtained through the exercise of du e

dili gen ce, it may sti ll be admiss ible on appeal if the applicant shows that the exclus ion of the

additional evide nce would lead to a miscarriage of ju stice, in that if it had been admitted at tria l, it

would have affected the verdict."

28 . In both cases , the applicant bears the burden of identi fyin g with preci sion the spec ific

find ing of fact made by the trial chamber to wh ich the addi tional evidence pert ain s, and of

spec ifying with sufficient clari ty the impact the additional evi dence co uld or wou ld have had upon

the trial chamber's verdic t.K6 An applicant who fail s to do so runs the risk that the tendered materi al

will be rejec ted without detailed considera tion.V

29 . Fin ally, the significance and potential impact of the tend ered material sha ll not be assessed

in isolat ion , hut in the co ntex t of the evidence presented at trial"

78 See, e.g., Nizeyimana Appeal Decision of 23 April 20 14, para. 6; Popovic Appeal Decision of23 May 20 14, para . 7.
79 See , e.g., Popovic Appeal Decision of 23 May 20 14, para. 7; Nizeyima na Appea l Decision of 23 Apri l 20 14, para . 6.
KO See, e.g. , Popovic Appeal Dec ision of 23 May 20 14, para. 8; Nizeyimana Appeal Decision of 23 April 20 14, para. 5.
KI See, e.g., Popovic Appeal Decision of 23 May 20 14, para . 8
82 See, e.g., Popovic Appeal Decision of 23 May 20 14, para . 8.
8.! See, e.g., Popovic Appeal Decision of 23 May 20 14, para . 9; Nizeyimana Appea l Decision of 23 Apri l 20 14, para. 6.
Il4 See, e.g.. Popovic Appea l Decision of23 May 20 14. para . 9.
85 See Rule 142(C) of the Rules. See also , e.g., Popovic Ap peal Dec ision of 23 May 20 14, para. 10; Nizeyimana Appeal
Decision of 23 Apr il 2014, para. 7.
86 See, e.g., Pop ovic Appea l Decision of 23 May 2014, para . 11; Niteyimana Appeal Decision of 23 Apr il 20 14, para. 8.
87 See, e.g., Popovic Appeal Decision of 23 May 2014 , para . 11; Nizeyimana Appeal Decisi on of 23 Apri l 20 J4, para . 8.
K8 See. e.g., Popovic Appeal Decision of 23 May 20 14. para. 12; Nite yim ana Appeal Decision of 23 April 20 14, para . 9.
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B. Discussion

1. Availabi lity and Due Dili gence

30. Ngirabatware argues that Mu giraneza' s 1999 Statement , Mugiraneza' s 2014 Statement , and

Nyiramasuhukos 20 10 Testimony were unav ailable to him at trial as a result of the Prosecuti on ' s

failure to meet its discl osure obligatio ns." Ngirabatware submits that, although Mu giraneza was on

his initial witn ess list, he was unaware of what Mugiraneza recollected regardin g Ngirabatwares

presence on 7 April 1994 at the Presidenti al Gu ard Camp." Further, Ngirab atwa re argues that he

had no reason to focus on 7 April 1994 in relati on to his alibi as he had no notice that the alle ged

di stributi on of weapon s in Nyam yumba Commune took place on that date."

31. The Prosecuti on resp ond s that, irrespecti ve of whether Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement and

Nyiramas uhuko's 2010 Testimony were disclosed to Ngirabatware at trial, the evidence was

available to him and di scoverable through the exercise of due di ligence." Similarly, in relation to

Mu giraneza ' s 2014 Statement, the Prosecuti on argues that Ngirabatw are could have obtained the

stateme nt during the trial proceedin gs." The Prosecution further contends that Ng iraba twa re had

not ice that his alibi sho uld focu s on 7 April 1994. ':1·1

32 . The Appeals Ch amber notes that Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement and Nyiramasuhuko' s 2010

Te stimony were di sclosed by the Prosecution in May 2013 which was after the co nclusion of the

trial." However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that whether the proffered ev ide nce was available at

trial is not a question of wheth er the documents in question were ava ilable in a literal sense." The

que stion for the Appeals Chamber is whether the applicant could, by exerci sing due diligence, have

obtained the information contained in the document s at an earlier date ."

X9 First Motion, para. 5; Second Motion , para. 7; Third Moti on, para . 6; See also Repl y to the First Response, paras. 6­
9, 11.
90 First Motion, paras. 6-9.
9 / First Motion, para. 9.
92 Response to First Mot ion, paras . 2 1-25; Response to Secon d Motion, paras. ) -5.
9.1 Respon se to Thi rd Motion. paras. 4-5.
94 Firs t Response, para . 24.
9' First Motion, para. 5; Second Motion, para. 4. The Trial Chamber heard Closing Argume nts in July 2012. See Trial
Judg ement. para. 15.
96 Prosecutor v. Mil e Mrkik ' and Yeselin SUivan<.-~an in. Case No. IT-95-I VI-A. Decision on Mile Mrksics Second Rule
l lS Motion. 13 Fehru ary 2009 (" MrHic: Appeal Decision of 13 February 2009"), para. 6. See also Mrksi c Appea l
Decis ion of n February 2009, para. 15.
97 MrHir!Appeal Decision of 13 Febru ary 2009. para. 6, citing Prosecutor v. Ramusli Haradinaj er al.. Case No. r r-04­
84-AR65.2. Decision on Lah i Brahimaj ' s Request to Present Additional Evidence under Rule l lS, ) March 2006 . para.
16. Sec also Burayagwiza Appeal Decision of 8 December 2006. para. 40. referring to Prosecutor v, Sylvestre
Gacumhitsi, Case No. ICTR-2001- 64-A, Decision on "Rcquete en extreme urgenee aux fins d' admission de moyen de
preuve supplcmentaire en appel", 9 February 2006 . para. 6; Prosecu tor v. Nikolu Sainovi<.-I et al.• Case No. IT-05-87- A,
Decision on Ncbojsa Pavko vic' s Motion lo Admit Additional Evidence. 12 Febru ary 20 10 (public redacted version),
para. 25.
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33. The Appeals Chamber note s that Ngirabatware was aware that Mu giraneza and

Nyiramasuhuko could gi ve evidence on his alibi as he him self indicated in his testimon y during trial

that they were with him at the Presid enti al Gu ard Camp in Kigali on 7 Apri l 1994 , with

Nyiramas uhuko remaining there until 8 April 1994, and that later he saw Mugiraneza at the French

Embassy on 8 April 1994. 9x At trial , Ngirabatware also submitted a list of indi vidu als who sought

refuge at the French Embassy, am ong them Mugiraneza and Nyiramasuhuko, ind icating that those

listed were potential witnesses for his alibi defence and that they were co ntac ted." The Appeals

Chamber recalls that the deci sion made by counsel not to call evidence at trial because of his

litigation strategy or because of the view taken as to the probative value of such evidence does not

make the evidence unavailable. 100

34. Further, the Appeals Chamber rec all s that the dut y to act with due diligence requires the

parties to make the best ca se in the first instance.' ?' and includes making use of all mechanisms of

protection and co mpulsion available under the St atute and the Rules to bring ev idence on behalf of

an accused before the trial ch amber. 102 Ngi rabatware does not indicate that he made any further

attempts to obtain evidence from either Mugiraneza or Nyiram asuhuko during trial. Considering

that Ngirabatw are' s ali bi was that he was in Kigali from 6 to 12 April 1994 and could not have

co mmitted crimes in Nyamyumba Commune during this time period ,103 the Appeals Chamber find s

unpersuasive his arguments that he had no reason to focus spec ifically on 7 Ap ril 1994 in relation to

his alibi. 104 Acc ordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds, Judge Moloto dissenting, that Ngirabatware

has failed to demonstrate that at trial the evidence was neither available nor discoverable through

the exercise of due diligence.

35. In light of the ab ove, the Appeal s Ch amber will proceed to consider whether the tendered

material satisfies the remainder of the criteria under Rule 142(C) of the Rules for admission as

additional evidence on appea l, notably whether it is credible, relevant , and would have affected the

verd ict had it been before the Trial Chamber.

98 See supra n. 73.
99 Ngirabatwarc' s Add ition al Alibi Notice. para. 3. RP. 57 15: Ng irabatware's Sec ond Additional Alibi Notice , para. 5.
See also supra para. 23.
100 Prosecutor v, Niko la Saillovic! et al.. Case No. IT-05- 87- A, Dec ision on Vladi mir Lazarcvic' s Mot ion to Prese nt
Add itional Evi de nce an d on Prosecut ion ' s Mot ion for O rder Requiring T ransla tions o r Excerpts of Annex E of
La zarevic ' s Rule 115 Moti on, 26 January 20 10 ("u lzarev;t' Appeal De cision of 26 January 2010") . para . 7, referring to
Prosecutor v, Dusko Tadic. Case No. IT-9 4- I -A. Decision on Ap pellant' s Mot ion for the Extensio n of the Time-Limit
and Admission of Addit ional Evide nce. 16 Octob er 1998 . pa ra. 50 , and referenc es cited therein . The Appeals Chamber
indicated that thi s is the case e xce pt where there is evidence of gross negli gence.
10 1 Lukic App eal De cision o f 11 March 20 IO. par a. 20 . citing Prosecutor v, Mladen Nuletilic and V;llko Martillovic,
Case No. IT-98-34-A. Decis ion on Naletilic's Consolidated Mot ion to Present Additional Evide nce, 20 Oct ober 2004 ,
Ptara. 30, and references cited therein.
02 See supra para. 24.

10.1 Tr ial Jud gem ent , para. 492.
H~l See First Motion . para. 9 .
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2 . Credibility, Relevam:e. and Impact on the Verdict

36. The Appeals Ch amber note s that Mu girancza' s 1999 Statement is a series of tran scripts of

interviews conduc ted by ICTR investigators with Mugiraneza in April 1999. 105 Acc ording to the

statement: (i) after learning of the death of Pre sident Habyarirn ana on the night of 6 April 1994,

Mu giraneza ca lled Ngirabatware who was his next -door neighb our; wc> (i i) Mugiraneza and

Ngirabatware left their homes and went to the Presidential Gu ard Camp on the night of

6 April 1994. arriving there sometime around midnight; 10? (iii) Mugiraneza left the Presidential

Guard Camp on 7 April 1994 at around 3.00 p.m. and arrived at the French Embassy around

4 .00 p.m. the same day; IOK and (iv) Ngirabatware whom he left at the Presidential Guard Camp

arrived at the French Embassy on the foll owing da y. lOlJ

37. Mugiranc za ' s 2014 Statement. dated 7 May 20 14 and certified by a notary, records an

interview of Mugiraneza by Ngirabatware s counsel. I 10 According to the statement: (i) at around

9.00 p.m. on 6 April 1994, Mu giraneza had telephone contac t with Ngirabatw are ; I11

(ii) Mugiraneza arri ved at the Presidential Gu ard Camp with Ngirab atw are at around midnight on

6 April 1994;112 (iii) on 7 April 1994, Mugirane za spoke to Ngirabatw are at the Pre sidenti al Guard

Camp at around 4.00 a.m., 10.00 a.m. , and 3.00 p.m .;11 3 and (iv) Mugiraneza saw Ngirabatware

again the following day at around noon at the French Embassy. ' !"

38. Nyiramasuhukos 2010 Testimony is a tran script of the witness' s testimony given on

3 May 2010 in the Karem era et a! trial. 11 5 Nyiramasuhuko testified that she left her home on

6 April 1994 at around midnight and went to the Pre sidential Guard Camp, where she remained

until the morning of 8 April 1994.116 Nyiramasuhuko further testified that Ngirabatware was present

at the Pre sidential Guard Camp at the time she was there. I I?

39 . Ngirab atware submits that the proffered evidence is credible and relevant to his alibi for

7 April 1994." K He argues that it corroborates the evidence provided by other alibi witnesses that

IU5 First Motion. Annex B.
IU6 First Motion. Annex B. RP. 1594-1593.
1117 First Motion. Annex 13: RP. 1549.
108 First Motion. Annex B. RP . 1612-16 11.
II)') First Motion. Annex 8 . RP. 16 12-161 1.
110 Th ird Motion, Annex G.
I1I Third Motion. Annex G. p. 4.
112 Third Motion. Annex G. p. 6.
11.1 Third Motion, Annex G. pp. 7-9.
114 Third Motion, Annex G, pp. 8-10.
115 Second Mot ion, Annex 8 .
116 Second Motion, Annex B. RP. 2550-2549, 2520.
\1 7 Second Motion. Annex 13 , RP. 2520-25 19.
118 First Motion, para . 12. See also Reply to the First Response, paras. 24-27 ; Second Motion , paras. 10-11 , 15; Third
Motion, paras. 20-23; Reply 10 the Third Response. paras. 3-4. 6.
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he was at the Presidential Guard Camp on 7 April 1994, and underm ines the Tri al Chamb er' s

conclusion that his alibi was fabrica ted. 11 9 In addition, Ngirabatware claims that Mu giraneza ' s 20 14

Statement provides for the first time direct evidence on Ngirabatw arcs whereabout s at specific

times on 6 and 7 April 1994 120 and shows that he could not have travelled from Kigali to Gisenyi on

7 April 1994. 121 Ngirabatware submits that fai lure to consider the proposed evide nce would lead to
. . f' . . 122a rmscarnage 0 ju stice.

40. The Prosecuti on respond s that Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statem ent has low probati ve value and is

cumulative of other evidence on the record. 123 It furth er submits that the statement neith er enhances

Ngirabatwares alibi evidence as to his whereabouts on 7 April 1994 nor allevi ates the Trial

Chamber' s suspicion that Ngirabatwarc sought out witnesses to accord with his alibi. 124 As to

Mugiraneza' s 20 14 Statement , the Prosecuti on submits that, for various reason s, it is inca pable of

bel ief or reli ance 125 and is cumulative of ev idence already on the record . 126 Concerning

Nyiramasuhukos 2010 Testim ony, the Prosecution clai ms that, even if the testim ony had been

admitted at trial, it provide s no information on Ngirabatwarc' s whereabout s on 7 April 1994 and is

cumulative of other alibi evidence on the record. l n

4 1. The App eals Chamber recall s that, in relation to the credibility of Mugiraneza' s 1999 and

20 14 statements and Nyiram asuhuko' s 20 10 Testimony, it is requ ired to ascertain whether the

proposed evidence appears to be reasonab ly capable of belief or reliance, and need not at this stage

make a findin g as to the weight to be accorded to it. 12
l\ The identification of the provenance of the

evidence is imp ortant in this regard. 129 Bearing these principl es in mind, the Appeals Chamb er is

satisfied that the proposed evidence bears sufficient indicia of credibility and is therefore reasonably

119 First Motion, paras. 12-14, 16. 19. Rep ly to the First Response. paras. 22-23. 3 1-32 ; Second Motion, paras. 11-13 .
16-17; Third Mot ion. paras . 11-13. 16, 25.
I ~O Third Motion. paras. 4(iii). 14-15 . See also Third Mot ion . para . 10.
I ~ J T hird Motion. para. 19.
122 First Motion. para. 27. See also Firs t Motion . para. 24 ; Repl y to the First Response. paras. 15-23; Second Motion ,
para . 23. See also Second Motion. par as. 20-2 1; Third Motion , para . 30 . Reply to the Th ird Respon se. para. 5 .
Ngirabatware submits that , in assessing the impact of the proposed eviden ce on the verd ict. the Appea ls Chamher
should cons ide r Mugirane za' s 1999 and 20 14 sta tements together. See Th ird Motion, para. 2.
IB Response to Firs t Motion. paras. 27, 3 1.
124 Response to First Moti on , paras. 29-36.
m Respon se to Third Mot ion , paras. S-19.
I ~ b Respon se to Thi rd Motion , paras. 21-24 .
127 Response to Second Mot ion , para s. 7-9 . The Prosecu tion further argues that Ny iramasuhu ko ' s 20 10 Test imony
woul d not have had an imp act on the verdict as it goes to the ac ts and co nduct of Ngi rabatware and, pursuant to
Rule 92bis(D) of the ICTR Rul es. it would have been inad missible at trial. See Response to Second Motion. para. 6.
12K Lazarevic Appeal Decision of 26 January 20 10. para . 27. referring , inter alia. 10 Prosecutor v, Dragomir Miloie vit' ,
Case No. IT-98-29/l -A. Dec ision on Dragorn ir Milos evic' s Further Motion to Pre sent Additional Evidence,
9 April 2009. para. 6; Prosecutor v, Mom610 Krajisnik. Case No. IT-00-39-A, Dec ision on Appellant Morncilo
Kraji sn ik' s Motion to Present Ad ditional Evid ence, 20 Augus t 200R, para. 6.
1 ~ 9 Lukit' Appea l Decision of II March 20 IO. para . 48 .
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capable of bel ief or reliance. It also appears relevant to an issue material to Ngirabatwares

conviction, namely the rejection of his alibi that on 7 April 1994 he was in Kigali. 130

42. Turning next to the potential impac t of the proposed evidence on Ngirabatwarc 's conviction,

the App eals Chamber views Mugiraneza's 1999 Statem ent , Nyirarnasuhukos 20 10 Testim ony, and

Mugiraneza ' s 20 14 Statement as going to Ngirabatwares whereabouts between the evening of

6 April 1994 and 8 Ap ril 1994, including 7 April 1994 when the Trial Chamber found that he was

in Nyam yumba Commune distribut ing weapon s. 131 In reachin g this co nclusion, the Appeals

Chamber is aware that Mu giraneza' s 1999 Statement and Nyirarnasuhuko' s 20 10 Testimony do not

specifica lly contain a detailed and full acco unt of Ngirabat warc' s whereabouts for each day.m

Nonetheless. the Appeals Chamber bears in min d that the focus of the que stions dur ing the 1999

interview of Mugiran eza may not have been Ngirabatware and that no further ques tions rega rding

Ngirabatware were asked in the Karemera et al . case. The Appeals Chamber also observes that

Mugirane za' s 1999 Stateme nt was give n both prior to the issuance of an indictment against

Ngirabatware and Ngirabatw are ' s arres t. ID

43. Nonetheless, the Appea ls Chamber, Jud ge Moloto dissentin g, is not satisfied that had

Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement , Nyiramas uhukos 20 10 Testimony, or Mugiraneza ' s 20 14 Statement

been admitted at trial, it would have had an impact on the Trial Chamber's eva luation of the alibi

witnesses' evidence in view of the totalit y of the reasons for the Trial Chamb er ' s rejection of

Ngirabatwares alibi. In particular, the Trial Chamber did not rejec t Ngirabatwa rc 's alibi for lack of

corroboration, but instead did so based on: (i) the late and piecemeal manner in which Ngirabatware

provided notice of his alibi, which raised the suspicion that he sought out witn esses to accord with

his alibi after having heard the Prosecut ion case:1.14 (ii) the various inconsistencies in the evidence

of the witnesses, calling into question the truthfulness of their accounts; 1.15 and (iii) his close or

professional relationship with many of the alibi witnesses.l" In this regard , the Appea ls Chamber

observes, Jud ge Mo loto dissenting, that Ngirabatwares request to admit the present evid ence is also

indicative of his piecemeal approach which conce rned the Tri al Chamber.m The Appea ls Chamber

DOTr ial Judgement, paras . 685, 696 .
D J T rial Judgement, paras . 685, 869-870. 1335- 1141.
1.'2 The Appea ls Chamher notes that reference to the spec ific times when Ngirah atware was purportedly seen at the
Presidenti al Guard Camp on 7 April 1994 appears for the firs t time in Mugirancza' s 20 14 Statement.
1.l:1 See The Prosecut or v. Augustin Ngiraba tware and Jea n de Dieu Kamuhanda , Case No. rCTR -99-54-r, Confirmation
of the Indictme nt and Order for Non-Discl osure. 4 Octoher 1999. See a/so supra para . 2 1.
1.'4 Trial Judgement . paras. 648 . 685, 696 .
1.'.1 See Trial Judgement, paras. 664-668 .670.675, 696.
1.'6 See Trial Judgement. paras. 656. 664 , 670 , 672 , 696.
1.'7 S / ')"'ee a so supra para . _.1 .
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further observes Ngirabatwares close or professional relationships with Mugiraneza and

N . h k 13~Ylramas u u o. -

44 . Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber, Jud ge Moloto dissentin g, is not satisfied that the Trial

Chamber would have co me to a different co nclusion had it considered Mugiraneza' s 1999 and

20 14 statements and Nyiram asuhuko ' s 20 10 Testimony. Thus, the Appeals Chamber , Judge Moloto

dissenting, is not co nvinced that if any of the prop osed evidence had been admitted at trial it would

have affected the verdi ct. Ngirabatwarc' s further request for callin g Mugiraneza as a witness on

appeal is therefore moot.

45. The Appeals Chamb er emphasizes that its finding s in this deci sion pertain strictly to the

admissibility of the proposed evidence and not to the merit s of Ngirabatwarc' s appea l. The Appeals

Chamber will determine whether the Tr ial Chamber correctly assessed Ngirabatware ' s alibi when

addressing the merit s of Ngirabatware ' s appeal aga inst the Trial Judgement.

V. DISPOSITION

46. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber GRANTS the First Motion and the Second

Motion, in part , FINDS that the Prosecuti on has violated Rule 73(A ) of the Rule s in relation to

Mugiraneza' s 1999 Statement and Nyiramasuhuko's 2010 Testim ony, DENIES , Judge MoJoto

dissenting, the First Motion and the Second Motion in all other respects, and DENIES the Third

Motion in its ent irety.

IJS The Appeals Chamber observes that Ngirabatwarc. Mugiraneza, and Nyirarnasuhuko were Ministers from the
MRND and that Ngirabatware and Mugirancza were next door neighbours. See Ngirabatware, T. 2S November 2010
pp. IS, 18; Firsl Motion, Annex B, RP. 1619. 1593; Second Motion, Annex B, RP. 2552; Trial Judgement, paras. 6.
497.
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Done in English and French, the English version being authoritative.

Done this 21'1day of November 20 14,
At The Hague,
Thc Netherlands

Judge Theodo r Meron, Presiding

Judge Bakonc Justice Moloio appends a dissentin g opinion.

[Seal of the Mechanism]
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DISSENrIlNG OPINION OFJUDGE BAKONE JUSTICE MOLOTO

1. The Statute of the MIC[ provides that Accused persons shall be tried fairly. They may lodgeappeals

when an error of tact has occurred which has occasioned a miscarriage of justice. J consider that in this

instance, the Accusedhas suffered severe prejudice by not receivingthe proposedadditionalevidence before or

duringthe courseof his trial. Conversely, ] also do not considerthatthe Prosecution suffers any prejudice from

admission of the proposed additional evidence that it itselfhad tailed to disclose. In this dissenting opinion, 1

will focus on the proposed admission of Mugiraneza:s 1999 statement and Nyiramasuhuko's 2010 testimony.

But before I do so, I must recall the following.

2. This is not the first time the Appeals Chamber found that the Prosecution has violated its disclosure

obligations under Rule 73 (A) of the Mechanism's Rules of Procedure and Evidence vis-a-vis Ngirabatware.'

Previously, this AppealsChamber considered in relation to the 2007 testimony of Mugiraneza that this should

have been disclosed to Ngirabatware as exculpatory material - but that the Prosecution had only done so

6 years later, in May 2013.2 The Appeals Chamber explicitly found that this omission had deprived

Ngirabatware of the ability to use this material at his trial .'

3. In light of the Prosecution's priordisclosure violations, it therefore appears all the more puzzling why

at this stage of the trial, the majority- again - decides against admission of the proposed additional evidence,

and Mugiranera's 1999 statement in particular. For a proper understanding of the importance of

Mugiraneza :s 1999 statement to Ngirabatware' s case, the following finding made by the Trial

Chamber is critical. In relation to Ngirabatwares alibi for 7 April 1994, the Trial Chamber in its

Judgement considered "there is a high probability that the alibi was tailored and fabricated to fit the

Prosecution case ."4

4. I note that Mugiraneza gave the 1999 statement in another case, before the Indictment against

Ngirabatware had been issuedand 10years priorto the commencement of Ngirabarware's trial.' The statement

was not drawn up by the Defence, but by the Prosecution. I considerthere can be no suggestionof any form of

fabrication involved in this evidence. For this reason, I consider thatwhile thisevidence is cumulative of other

evidence on the record, it confirmsthe evidence that places Ngirabatware at the Presidential GuardCamp on 7

April 1994 and severely undermines theTrialChamber's assessmentof the Defence evidence on thispoint.

I Decision on Augustin Ngirabatware 's Motion for Sanctions for the Prosecution and for an Order for Disclosure.
15 April 2014.
2 Ibid. para. 22.
.~ Ibid. para, 23. I note thatthemajority finds that the Prosecution disclosedMugiraneza 's 1999 Statement andNyiramasuhuko's 2010
Tcstimony with a delay of nearly 14years and three years. respectively.
4 Trial Judgement. para. 685.
~ On 9 September 1999, the Prosecution submitted a draft indictment against Augustin Ngirabatware and Jean de Dicu
Karnuhanda. This indictment was found to be insufficient, and the Prosecutor withdrew it on 27 September 1999. On 2X
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5. I now turn to the content of Mugiranezas statement. Mugiraneza stated to Prosecution investigators in

1999 that on 6 April 1994, around midnight, he and his next-door neighbor, Augustin Ngirabatware, the

Minister of Planning, left for the Presidential Guard camp." They arrived around after midnight at the

Presidential Guard Camp. The next day, 7 April, Mugiraneza left the Presidential Guard Camp at 3 p.m. and

anived at the French embassy at 4 p.m. He added that when he and others left the Presidential Guard Camp at

3 p.m., they had left Ngirabatware there.7 In other words, according to Mugiraneza, Ngirabatware was present

at the Presidential Guard camp on 7 April 1994untilaround 3 p.m.

6. Turning to the evidence of Nyiramasuhuko, her evidence was also given in another trial, and was

disclosed to Ngirabatware only after the Judgement in his trial had been issued. This evidence, too, concerns

testimony that directly confirms an important part of Ngirabatware's alibi, namely regarding Ngirabatwarc's

alleged whereabouts in the period of 6 to 8 April 1994. Nyiramasuhuko states unambiguously who was at the

PresidentialGuard Camp for the periodof 6 to 8 April whileshe was there. It accounts for the entireperiodof 6

to 8 April 194, and confirms Ngirabatware's whereabouts at the Presidential Guard Camp on 7 Apri12014.x

7. I will contrast the foregoing with the Trial Chamber's findings in this regard.

8. The Trial Chamber found that Ngirabatware delivered weapons in the Nyamyumba Commune in the

morning of 7 April 1994.While the Trial Chamber in its findings does not explicitly refer to the time of day at

which Ngirabatware would have delivered these weapons, it relies on the evidence of severa l witnessesthat the

deliveries took place before the attack on Safari Nyambwega, and explicitly relies on Witnesses A.NAF and

DWAN-3 to conclude that the deliveriestook place on 7 April - whereas both witnesses testified that the attack

on Safari Nyambwcga took place on the morning of 7 April 1994. 1} Having contrasted this against

Mugiraneza's and Nyiramasuhuko's evidence that Ngirabatware was at the Presidential Guard Camp at that

time, it appears of paramount importance that their evidence is admitted in this case, either pursuant to MICf

Rules 110 or 111.)0 Although I believe that it should be unnecessary to mention at this stage of the

proceedings - that is, the admission of additional evidence on appeal - I have furtherconsidered the following

in my determination that admission of the evidence would have affected the verdict. The Trial Chamber

appears to have accepted - albeit implicitly - that Ngirabatware was in Kigali on the morning 01'7April 1994

and twice traveled to the Nyamyumba Commune on the same morning to deliver weapons there. The Trial

Septem ber 1999, the Prosecut ion filed a modified indictment. On I Octobe r 1999, the indic tme nt was confirmed and its
non -disclosure was ord ered . See Trial Jud gement , Annex A. paras 1-2.
6 Dr. Ngirabatware ' s Confidential Mot ion Pursuant to Articles 73, 74 and 142 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence,
25 July 201 3 (wi th co nfide ntial Annexes A and B), Annex B ("Mugiraneza 1999 Stateme nt"), pp. 1549 and 1617.
7 Mugiraneza 1999 Statement. p. 1612.
~ See Dr. Ngirabatware 's Second Motion Pursuant to Articles 73, 74 and 142 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence,
Annex B (Nyiramas uhuko 20 10 testim ony), 2 Sept ember 2013. pp . 2520 -25 19.
9 See Tr ial Judgement , para. 732 (W itness ANAF) and para. 772 (Witness DWA N-3).
10 I note that Rules 110 and I I I are the counterpa rts of Rules 92 his and 92 ter of the ICT Y Rules of Procedure and
Evidence.
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Chamber estimated this trip would have taken approximately 4 to 5 hours. I I Thus, Ngirabatware would have

had to travel from Kigali to the Nyamyumba Commune, a 4 to 5 hour drive, distribute weapons at the

Bruxcllcs Roadblock, go back to fetch a second load of weapons, return to the Bruxellcs Roadblock and

distribute weapons again, all on the moming of 7 April 1994. Therefore, irrespective of the proposed additional

evidence, r have difficulties to find internal consistency in the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the events

thatoccurredon 7 April 1994.

9. For the foregoing reasons, I consider that the test {or admission of the proposed additional evidence has

been met, that is: if believed, admission of the proposed additional evidence would have affected the Trial

Chamber's verdict.

10. Lastly, I note withconcem that both Mugiraneza and Ngirabatwarewere left in the dark regarding the

corroborative nature of each other's evidence, as the Prosecution similarly failed to disclose exculpatory

evidence in Ngirabatwarc's case to Mugiraneza.1 2The Mugiraneza Trial Chamber found that the most

appropriate remedy to the Prosecution's serious disclosure violations was to draw a reasonable inference in

favour of the Accused tram the exculpatory material. I J I submit the Ngirabatware Trial Chamber would have

done the same had it been aware of the Prosecution's manifest failures to disclose exculpatory evidence to the

Accused.14

11. Ultimately, Ngirabatwarc requests that the Appeals Chamber reviews the evidence that is

relevant to his alibi and has probative value. He requests to exercise a fundament al right conferred

on him in Article 19 of the Statute, namely, his right to obtain the attendance and examination of

witnesses on his behalf under the same conditions as witnesses against him. While the majority

agrees the proposed evidence is relevant to Ngirab atwares alibi and that it has probative value, it

refers, inter alia, to the late and piecemeal manner in which Ngirabatware provided notice of his

I1 Trial Judgement. para. 659.
12 See, amongst others, Mugeni i and Mugiranezu v, The Prosecutor, Appeal Judgement, para. 63.
1.1 Prosecutor v, Bizimungu et al.. Trial Judgement of 30 Sep tember 201 1, paras 175-177 . Regarding these violations, the
Mugirancza Trial Cham ber held that "The Prosecution's conduct in thismatter is inexcusable. It failed to inform the Defence teams of
exculpatorymaterial, insome instances, forover a year. Thismaterial is clearly relevant highly probative. andprima facieexculpatory of
serious allegations upon which the Prosecution seeks conviction. The events, if proven, wouldalsobe highly relevant to themens rea of
certainAccused. When one of the Defence teams communicated its inability to access this material, the Prosecution failed to ensure
accessfor a period of almost five additional months. This conduct stands in stark contrast to the Prosecution's fundamentalobligations
and to theinterests ofjustice, Regardlessof theroot causefor theProsecution's repeatedfailureto discharge oneof itsprimary duties, this
has materially prejudiced the Accusedin this case. While the Defence teams should have raised this matterearlier, tile reality is that tile
Prosecution only inlormed them of tile exculpatory material once tbc Chamber was at an advanced stage in the process of drafting its
judgement.Given this situation, the Chamber considers that tilemost appropriate remedy is to draw a reasonable inference infavour of
theAccusedfrom theexculpatory material.Ona final note, thcChamber wishes 10 remind theOffice of the Prosecutor that the Appeals
Chamber has twice stated that 'the Office of tile Prosecutor has a duty to establish proceduresdesigned to ensure that, particularly in
instances where tilesame witnesses testify in differentcases, tile evidence provided by such witnesses is re-examined in light of Rule 68
10 determine whetherany materialhas 10 bedisclosed.' It is an unfortunate truth thatthese procedureswere inadequate in the presentcase
sinceat least 2006."
14 I note that the Ngirabatware Trial Chamber was never informed of the Prosecution's serious Ru.lc 6S disclosure violationsbecause
theseviolationsonly came to light after tile Ngirabatwarc TrialJudgement had been issued.
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alibi at trial to noneth eless reject admissio n of the proposed evidence . 1 consider this approac h to be

flawed and that the obligations described in the Rules, including MlCT Rule 72 regarding alibi

notice, cannot trump the fund amental statutory rights conferred upon persons tried before the

Mechanism. I recall that Arti cle 13 (4) of the MICT Statut e provides that "the Rules of Procedure

and Evide nce and ame ndme nts thereto shall be consistent with this Statute". MICT Rule 105

regarding the admiss ion of evi dence provides that " in cases not otherwise provided for in this

Section, a Chamber shall apply rules of evidence which will best favo ur a fair determ ination of the

matter be fore it and are conso nant with the spirit of the Statut e and the general principl es of law".

There is no doubt in my mind that a fair determination of this matter, consonant with the text and

spirit of the MICT Statute, requires adm ission of the proposed evidence. I therefore disagre e with

the majority' s decision to deny admiss ion of the sai d evidence .

12. In conclusio n, 1 respect fully dissent from the view held by the majorit y that no prejudi ce

follows from its refu sal to admit the proposed ev idence; instead, I co nclude that the excl usio n of

this ev idence has led to an irreparable miscarriage of justice vis-a-vis Ngirabatwarc. He is denied an

opportunity to present relevant, reliable and probative evidence in his Defence which the

Pro secution , in failing to comply with its strict duties to provide the Accused with all exculpatory

material in his case, had not disclosed to him either before or dur ing his trial, compro mising its

fairness as a whole.

7
Done in Eng lish and French , the Engli sh version being authoritative.

, ~' l. 'L(
. Il.L~~

Judge Bakone Justice Moloto
. ... / /

Dated this 21'1 day of November 2014

At The Hague

The Netherlands

[Seal of the Mechanism]
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